Click here to view this article's online features:

ANNUAL Further

- Download figures as PPT slides
  Navigate linked references
- Navigate linked refer
   Download citations
- Explore related articles
- Search keywords

# The Neurobiology of "Food Addiction" and Its Implications for Obesity Treatment and Policy

### Adrian Carter,<sup>1,2</sup> Joshua Hendrikse,<sup>1</sup> Natalia Lee,<sup>3</sup> Murat Yücel,<sup>1</sup> Antonio Verdejo-Garcia,<sup>1</sup> Zane B. Andrews,<sup>4</sup> and Wayne Hall<sup>2,5</sup>

<sup>1</sup>School of Psychological Sciences and Monash Institute of Cognitive and Clinical Neurosciences, Monash University, Clayton Victoria 3800, Australia; email: adrian.carter@monash.edu

<sup>2</sup>University of Queensland Centre for Clinical Research, University of Queensland, Herston, Queensland 4029 Australia

<sup>3</sup>Neuroscience Interdepartmental Graduate Program, University of California, Los Angeles, California 90095

<sup>4</sup>School of Physiology, Monash University, Clayton, Victoria 3800, Australia

<sup>5</sup>Centre for Youth Substance Abuse Research, University of Queensland, Herston, Queensland 4006 Australia

Annu. Rev. Nutr. 2016. 36:105-28

First published online as a Review in Advance on June 1, 2016

The Annual Review of Nutrition is online at nutr.annualreviews.org

This article's doi: 10.1146/annurev-nutr-071715-050909

Copyright © 2016 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

#### Keywords

obesity, food addiction, neuroscience, policy, treatment, stigma

#### Abstract

There is a growing view that certain foods, particularly those high in refined sugars and fats, are addictive and that some forms of obesity can usefully be treated as a food addiction. This perspective is supported by a growing body of neuroscience research demonstrating that the chronic consumption of energy-dense foods causes changes in the brain's reward pathway that are central to the development and maintenance of drug addiction. Obese and overweight individuals also display patterns of eating behavior that resemble the ways in which addicted individuals consume drugs. We critically review the evidence that some forms of obesity or overeating could be considered a food addiction and argue that the use of food addiction as a diagnostic category is premature. We also examine some of the potential positive and negative clinical, social, and public policy implications of describing obesity as a food addiction that require further investigation.

#### Contents

INTRODUCTION	106
BEHAVIORAL SIMILARITIES BETWEEN DRUG ABUSERS	
AND OBESE INDIVIDUALS	107
ANIMAL MODELS OF FOOD ADDICTION	107
Dopaminergic Reward Pathways Influence Feeding	108
The Endocrine System and Reward	109
Other Neurotransmitter Systems Involved in Addictive Behaviors	110
EVIDENCE FROM HUMAN NEUROIMAGING STUDIES	110
NEUROCOGNITIVE AND PERSONALITY SIMILARITIES BETWEEN	
ADDICTED AND OBESE PERSONS	111
Executive Function and Decision Making	111
Impulsivity and Inhibitory Control	111
Cue Reactivity, Cognitive Biases, and Affective Processing	112
THE GENETIC BASIS OF ADDICTIVE BEHAVIORS AND OBESITY	112
A CRITICAL REVIEW OF THE EVIDENCE FOR A FOOD ADDICTION	
MODEL OF OBESITY	113
Methodological Limitations and Directions for Future Research	114
IMPLICATIONS OF NEUROSCIENCE FOR OBESITY TREATMENT,	
PREVENTION, AND POLICY	116
Emerging Neurobiological Treatments of Obesity	116
Stigma and Public Attitudes Toward Obese Individuals	117
Self-Efficacy, Eating, and Weight	118
Public Policy Implications of a Food Addiction Model of Obesity	118
CONCLUSIONS	120

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Similarities between the overconsumption of foods high in refined sugar and fat and the use of addictive drugs have led some scientists and clinicians to suggest that obesity may be a form of "food addiction" (43, 62, 155). The view that overeating and obesity may be the result of a food addiction is gaining increasing attention in the mainstream media (e.g., 32, 76). The food addiction view is supported by preclinical and clinical neuroscience research demonstrating that energy-dense, hyperpalatable foods and drugs of abuse evoke similar neural responses in the brain (10, 133, 157).

The view of obesity as a food addiction has significant social, clinical, and public health policy implications (59, 62, 94). In 2013, 1.9 billion adults were classified as overweight and another 600 million as obese (166). Excess weight accounts for over 2.8 million deaths per year, largely due to diabetes, heart disease, and cancer, and is the fifth leading cause of premature death (166). More people now die from being overweight than underweight. Our current public health policies and treatment approaches are not meeting this growing problem.

Proponents of the food addiction model of obesity argue that recognition (8, 59, 62) of the neurobiological and cognitive changes that drive the addictive consumption of hyperpalatable foods will produce more targeted and effective psychological and medical treatments of obesity (8, 99). Proponents contend that such a model will lead to greater recognition of obesity as a medical disease that can be treated, increasing treatment seeking and reducing stigma and discrimination toward overweight individuals (59, 67, 133). They also argue that it will increase support for public health policies that aim to reduce the availability and consumption of obesogenic foods, such as increasing taxation and regulating the sale, advertising, and availability of these foods (4, 59, 62). Similar policies have substantially reduced the prevalence of cigarette smoking, but the food industry has strongly resisted their application to the prevention of obesity (27).

Prima facie the neurobiology of overeating provides a plausible account of excessive consumption (95). In this article, we critically review the similarities between the behavioral patterns of overeating and addictive drug consumption, neuropharmacological and neuroanatomical evidence from animal models of overeating and addiction, and insights from human neuroimaging and neurocognitive studies that support the claim that some forms of chronic overeating and obesity comprise a food addiction. We then examine the potential positive and negative implications of food addiction for social, policy, and clinical approaches to treating and preventing obesity.

#### BEHAVIORAL SIMILARITIES BETWEEN DRUG ABUSERS AND OBESE INDIVIDUALS

The suggestion that obesity may be a form of food addiction was initially based on phenotypic similarities between patterns of overeating in obese individuals and addictive drug use. These can be seen in a number of similarities between the eating behavior of obese individuals and diagnostic criteria for substance dependence in the fourth and fifth editions of the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (DSM-IV and DSM-5) (43, 79). Both patterns of behavior show signs of tolerance; withdrawal; substances taken in larger amounts or for longer than intended; unsuccessful efforts to control use; a large amount of time spent obtaining, using, or recovering from use of the substance; a neglect of social, occupational, or recreational activities; and continued use despite a "recurrent physical or psychological problem [...] caused or exacerbated by the substance" (79).

Gearhardt and colleagues adapted the DSM-IV criteria for substance dependence to create the Yale Food Addiction Scale (YFAS), a tool for diagnosing food addiction (60). Comparisons have also been made between maladaptive eating styles, such as binge eating disorder (BED), and the impaired impulse control and compulsivity of substance-dependent individuals (63, 133).

Addictive patterns of eating are associated with obesity, but the overlap between the two is incomplete. Not all persons who are obese meet the criteria for food addiction, and not all individuals who meet the criteria for food addiction are overweight (107). The same is true for BED (138). These observations demonstrate that excess body mass index (BMI) is an inadequate marker of compulsive or addictive-like overeating. A larger correlation exists between BED and food addiction (43, 63). Further research on the development of these disorders is needed to establish if they represent separate diagnoses or are part of the same processes. The validity of the YFAS does not establish that food addiction is a coherent concept. Research is needed to identify neural processes that are similarly involved in both food and drug addiction.

#### ANIMAL MODELS OF FOOD ADDICTION

Studies in animal models of overeating and obesity have identified many of the brain regions and neurochemical mechanisms associated with the overconsumption of food that mirror those seen in animal models of drug addiction. Rodents fed a cafeteria diet—foods high in both sugar and fat—will develop an addiction-like pattern of behavior that includes binge eating, compulsive food seeking and withdrawal (10, 83). These animals will also overconsume hyperpalatable food in the face of aversive electrical foot shock (10), much like animals exposed to the chronic use of addictive drugs (85).

#### Dopaminergic Reward Pathways Influence Feeding

Drugs of abuse and hyperpalatable foods both act on the brain's dopaminergic reward pathway, a circuit composed of dopamine (DA) cells that project primarily from the ventral tegmental area (VTA) to the nucleus accumbens (NAc) and into limbic and cortical regions, such as the amygdala, orbitofrontal cortex (OFC), and anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) (114, 136) (see **Figure 1**). The reward pathway is involved in the processes of reward, salience, motivation, decision making, and inhibitory control (158); these processes are central in the development of addiction and excessive food intake.

Repeated drug exposure decreases striatal dopamine D2 receptor (D2R) levels and accumbal DA signaling, which reduces sensitivity to natural rewards (for a review, see 85). This is thought to contribute to an anhedonic state that is linked to a reward-deficiency syndrome (17). Vulnerable individuals engage in drug-seeking behaviors in part to activate these downregulated circuits (148). Rodents fed a highly palatable diet also show diminished striatal D2R expression (83) and reduced DA signaling in the NAc (64). These rats also required a higher level of electrical brain reward stimulation to continue running on a wheel, reflecting brain reward dysfunction (83). Importantly, these changes persisted after the return to a normal diet, and they correlated with increased weight (84).

DA is essential to appropriate feeding in mice: DA-deficient mice are inactive, do not eat, and die within four weeks of birth (140, 141). Treatment with levodopa, a precursor to DA, increases food and water consumption (141), and viral gene therapy that increases striatal DA concentrations restores food intake and a preference for sucrose or high-fat foods (140). Interestingly, calorie-rich foods appear to affect the brain reward system independently of taste, as the dopaminergic response to sucrose is greater than the response to sucralose in mice that cannot detect sweet tastes (46). Reduced striatal D2R availability is associated with decreased metabolism in the OFC and ACC. These areas of the brain are involved in motivation, inhibitory control, emotional regulation, and decision making. Disruption of these regions contributes to the loss of control in both addiction and obesity (101).

Another core feature of addictive behavior is that acute exposure to drug-associated cues or stressors can provoke craving and relapse. As drug use progresses, the initial increase in DA following drug use becomes associated with the stimuli and events that accompany drug use, such as the drug-using environment (78). Repeated exposure to food rewards similarly results in learning in which the DA response transfers to conditioned stimuli, such as the smell of food (16).

#### Figure 1

Model of brain circuits implicated in drug addiction and obesity. (*a*) The structures of the brain involved in addiction and obesity. The nucleus accumbens (NAc) is thought to play an important role in identifying activities that are rewarding or salient (the feature of a thing that makes it stand out from all others). The orbitofrontal cortex (OFC) is involved in decision making and determining the expected rewards/punishments of an action. The amygdala (Am) and hippocampus (Hip) are involved in forming memories of the stimulus/reward relationship; inhibitory control and emotional regulation are provided by the prefrontal cortex (PFC) and the anterior cingulate gyrus (CG). Addictive drugs and food, particularly in obese individuals, are believed to cause neurons from the ventral tegmental area to release the neurotransmitter dopamine in the NAc. These regions regulate activity in the frontal cortical regions. This pathway is referred to as the mesolimbic reward pathway (marked with *red arrows*). (*b*,*c*) Schematics showing the reward pathways in the (*b*) nonaddicted and the (*c*) so-called addicted brain. In a person suffering from addiction, the reward pathway is disrupted such that the PFC and CG are no longer controlling factors, and compulsive behavior is driven by the enhanced activation of the reward/saliency and memory/conditioning regions of the brain. As such, when an individual is exposed to the reinforcing stimulant (a drug or food, for example), the system goes into overdrive. Figure adapted with permission from Reference 12a.

These conditioned stimuli can induce cravings that correlate with the magnitude of striatal DA release and activation of the amygdala, ACC, NAc, and OFC (136). Cravings and other behaviors associated with drug or food intake can be elicited after exposure to these conditioned stimuli, rewards, or stressors.

#### The Endocrine System and Reward

Peptides responsible for the regulation of homeostatic functions, such as food consumption, also influence the reinforcing effects of drugs (157). The hypothalamus is the brain region primarily responsible for regulating food intake and is structurally and functionally connected with the brain's

a Brain reward pathways PFC CG Striatum OFC Substantia nigra NAc Ventral tegmental area **b** Nonaddicted brain C Addicted brain Control and Control and self-regulation (PFC, CG) self-regulation (PFC, CG) Salience Drive (OFC) Salience Drive Go Not go (OFC) (NAc) (NAc) Memory Memory (Am, Hip) (Am, Hip)

motivational circuitry (51), emphasizing neurochemical similarities between food consumption and addiction. Hypothalamic mechanisms can act on dopaminergic pathways, thereby influencing reward-related processes, such as drug use. For example, activation of hypothalamic agouti-related neuropeptide (AgRP) neurons, which sense negative energy balance and increase food intake, also increase the motivation to eat and food-seeking behavior in the absence of food (89). Similarly, direct activation of AgRP neurons in mice promotes food seeking and excessive eating (7). AgRP neurons can also influence non-food-related reward behaviors, such as cocaine sensitivity (47).

Ghrelin is a hormone that produces hunger, protecting us from the negative consequences of energy depletion (e.g., increased blood glucose during starvation) (22). Ghrelin acts on AgRP neurons in the hypothalamus and DA neurons in the VTA to increase food intake, to increase the motivation to obtain food, and to regulate blood glucose (5). Appetite-suppressing hormones (e.g., insulin, leptin, and glucagon-like peptide 1) oppose the metabolic actions of ghrelin; their levels increase in response to signals of food consumption and appear to attenuate the brain reward system, reducing the motivation for food rewards (92). These studies demonstrate that the metabolic state has a profound influence on the reward system by linking homeostatic mechanisms in the hypothalamus with reward pathways in the midbrain and cortex (51).

#### Other Neurotransmitter Systems Involved in Addictive Behaviors

Whereas DA underpins the motivation for, or wanting of, food or drugs, the liking of both food and addictive drugs is mediated by the cannabinoid and opioid systems (156). Sugar (and possibly other hyperpalatable foods) directly increases endogenous opioid levels (156). Opioid agonists increase the intake of palatable foods, whereas opioid antagonists reduce intake (136). These effects have been observed in normal-weight and obese individuals (136). Opioid antagonists also reduce drug and behavioral addictions (119). The endocannabinoid system increases food consumption by modulating excitatory and inhibitory inputs to the VTA and NAc, indirectly activating mesolimbic DA transmission (38). Endocannabinoid systems also transiently regulate the actions of mediators in the hypothalamus that regulate appetite (38).

The serotonergic system has long been a target for central-acting drugs to produce weight loss. The serotonergic system is involved in the regulation of cognitive processes, notably impulse control, and plays a significant modulatory role in regulating DA neuronal activity (75). Animal models have demonstrated decreased dopaminergic and serotonergic transmission in the NAc during drug withdrawal (85). Serotonin (5-HT)<sub>2C</sub> receptor agonists (e.g., Lorcaserin) impact the hypothalamus and mesocorticolimbic DA system to influence the metabolic and hedonic aspects of feeding (75). Selective mutations of the  $5-HT_{2C}$  receptor gene in mice leads to hyperphagia and middle-aged obesity (118).  $5-HT_{2C}$  receptor agonists have also been shown to alter neural systems and behaviors associated with drug abuse and addiction (75).

#### **EVIDENCE FROM HUMAN NEUROIMAGING STUDIES**

Human neuroimaging studies support many of the findings in animal models of obesity and drug addiction. Studies have shown increased DA release in the NAc in response to several substances of abuse (e.g., stimulants, nicotine, alcohol, and marijuana) (153). Similarly, consumption of highly palatable foods causes striatal DA release in humans, the magnitude of which correlates with self-rated meal pleasantness (136). Deficits in dopaminergic pathways have also been observed among obese individuals, including decreased striatal D2R availability (156). As in animal models, decreased striatal D2R in humans is associated with reductions in baseline activity in regions responsible for inhibitory control (e.g., ACC) and decision making (e.g., OFC) (157).

Structural and functional neuroimaging studies have shown that obese individuals have deficits in frontal-striatal systems that overlap with those seen in cocaine users (132). Gray matter density in the frontal and striatal areas related to reward and self-regulation is significantly lower in obese human adults compared to healthy controls (120). A meta-analysis of functional activation studies found extensive overlap in response to palatable food images in obese individuals and the reward regions activated by drug cues in drug-addicted individuals (143).

Both addicted and obese individuals show sensitized responses to cues associated with food consumption, and exposure to these cues plays a significant role in relapse in both disorders (157). Akin to addicted individuals, obese individuals display increased functional connectivity in the dorsal striatum that correlates with the strength of food craving and predicts weight regain after weight-loss interventions (36). Obese individuals, however, exhibit less activation in reward circuitry than do lean controls during food consumption (156). Additionally, the hypothalamus and prefrontal regions (such as the ACC) are less reactive to satiety in obese individuals (156). Disparities between reward expectation and attainment from actual food consumption may lead to overeating as a compensatory behavior.

Food cues similarly increase DA in the striatum, and the increase is associated with food cravings. Nonobese male subjects were instructed to inhibit their food cravings upon exposure to food cues, and doing so decreased activity in their OFC, amygdala, insula, and striatum (160). A similar pattern was observed among cocaine abusers who were asked to inhibit their cravings when exposed to drug-related cues (161). Human imaging studies have demonstrated an inverse relationship between brain activity in the prefrontal cortex, a region critical to executive control, and BMI (157). Interestingly, successful dieting appears to activate prefrontal regions (e.g., OFC) that are involved in inhibitory control when individuals are eating.

### NEUROCOGNITIVE AND PERSONALITY SIMILARITIES BETWEEN ADDICTED AND OBESE PERSONS

Studies have identified a number of neurocognitive deficits in obese individuals that are also found in drug-addicted individuals, such as executive function and cognitive control impairments (156).

#### **Executive Function and Decision Making**

Executive functioning encompasses a range of cognitive domains that regulate flexible goaldirected behavior. A systematic review of obese adults' performance on behavioral measures of executive function identified consistent impairments in decision making (55). Overweight adolescents also have reduced cognitive flexibility and poorer decision-making ability in comparison with healthy weight-matched controls (151). The poorer decision making of obese persons means that they are more heavily influenced by immediate rewards and less responsive to future consequences, such as increased weight gain, resulting in poorer food choices. Similar deficits are seen in drug-addicted individuals (14).

Maladaptive eating patterns are associated with a tendency to heavily discount future rewards and focus on immediate gratification, referred to as delay discounting (163). Similar attributes have been found in individuals addicted to cocaine, smoking, opiates, and gambling (2, 124). Heightened delay discounting can increase consumption of both drugs and hyperpalatable foods and reduce attention to long-term health goals, such as weight management and healthy eating.

#### **Impulsivity and Inhibitory Control**

Impaired inhibitory control is central to both overeating and drug addiction (13). Obese children and adolescents perform poorly on tasks requiring the inhibition of responses (e.g., the stop-signal,

go/no-go, and Stroop tasks) (111, 151). Reduced inhibitory control in early life may be a risk factor for the onset and maintenance of obesity; it also predicts weight gain one year after a weight-loss intervention (111).

Similar deficits in response inhibition have been reported in adults with a high BMI (113). Lower inhibitory control in adulthood is associated with higher food intake (69) and weight gain (112). Impaired response inhibition may also explain the poor outcomes of many behavioral weight-management programs, which require effective self-control and self-regulation (113). Successful weight loss is associated with improved inhibitory control (90). Heightened impulsivity and increased sensitivity to reward lead to overconsumption and may explain why some individuals find it difficult to abstain from binge eating and chronic drug use. Lifestyle factors such as elevated stress and poor sleep impair inhibitory control, and obese individuals experience higher stress and sleep disturbances that are likely to account for some of the impulsivity deficits ascribed to obesity (150).

#### Cue Reactivity, Cognitive Biases, and Affective Processing

The ability to identify food sources is essential for human survival in environments in which food is scarce (30). In contemporary society, however, attentional biases to food may increase maladaptive eating in an environment saturated with hyperpalatable food sources and cues. Psychophysiological, neuroimaging, and neurocognitive studies have identified enhanced attentional processing of food and food-related stimuli in obese individuals (74, 115). Eye-tracking paradigms have also shown greater increased food-cue reactivity in obese than in healthy-weight participants under conditions of satiety (30). Exaggerated salience of food information in obese individuals appears to be motivationally rather than homeostatically mediated, suggesting that the focus on food is driven by increased salience, as seen in drug addiction, and not simply metabolic need.

The same phenomena are seen in studies in drug-addicted persons. Individuals who are addicted to cocaine, opiates, alcohol, nicotine, cannabis, and caffeine respond strongly to drug-related stimuli (52–54, 57, 167). Given the similarities between obesity and drug addiction, the augmented salience and motivational properties of certain foods may increase cravings and make foods more difficult to resist. Correlations between self-reported food cravings and attentional biases to food stimuli provide preliminary support for this association (116).

A number of personality dimensions have been investigated in disordered eating. Surveys show that persons with higher BMIs score higher on neuroticism and extraversion and lower on conscientiousness (139), personality traits that are shared by drug-addicted individuals (41). Sutin et al. (139) found that participants in the highest 10% on impulsiveness ratings were 11 kg heavier on average than those in the lowest 10%. In a related finding, individuals scoring high on conscientiousness had lower BMIs (33). Conscientiousness is negatively correlated with disordered eating (19), binge eating, and binge drinking (130) and positively correlated with physical activity (128). Increased conscientiousness reflects increased self-control and an ability to pursue higher-order goals (144). Impulsiveness and conscientiousness represent facets of personality that substantially affect healthy lifestyles and eating behaviors in opposite directions.

#### THE GENETIC BASIS OF ADDICTIVE BEHAVIORS AND OBESITY

Evidence from twin, family, and adoption studies suggest that 40% to 70% of interindividual BMI may be explained by shared genetic factors (45). Candidate gene and linkage studies provided the first evidence of specific obesity-related loci. However, these studies were often limited by small sample size, and findings were often not replicated (82). These approaches have been superseded

by genome-wide association studies that use larger samples to achieve adequate statistical power (45). Genome-wide association studies have identified a number of genes associated with excess weight that are also implicated in decision making. The fat mass and obesity-associated gene (*FTO*) was the first genetic variant reliably associated with obesity (58) and has the largest effect size of all obesity-associated loci (100). *FTO* mRNA is expressed in the hypothalamic nuclei (65), influencing food intake and energy homeostasis (31). Common variants of the key gene locus linked to *FTO* are dose-dependently associated with increases in BMI and impulsive behavior and decreases in prefrontal cortex function (34).

Genetic variants affecting dopamine signaling have been investigated as a risk factor for addictive, impulsive, and compulsive disorders. The D2R Taq1A polymorphism has emerged as a potential genetic marker for cognitive phenotypes (e.g., reward sensitivity, reinforcement learning, and impulsivity) related to both substance dependence and overeating (168). Carriers of this allele have reduced dopamine receptor density, dopamine signaling abnormalities, and blunted reward sensitivity and reinforcement learning (17). This may lead individuals to engage in compensatory reward-driven behaviors, such as drug use and overeating, to promote dopamine release (17), consistent with the reward-deficiency syndrome. This finding has been replicated in cocaine (117) and opiate (48) addiction and would appear to corroborate studies linking addiction to decreased striatal D2R availability (154). As with drug addiction, a reduction in D2R availability in obesity has been correlated with the Taq1A A1 allele (137). Overweight and obese individuals with this allele show hypofunctioning of the dorsal striatum, a dopaminergic region involved in the processing of food reward, after consuming appetizing food (137). Genetic attenuations of dopamine transmission may contribute to unhealthy eating patterns and weight gain. Genes linked to leptin signaling also moderate dopamine function (28), which is linked to impulsivity and obesity (137). The D2R Taq1A A1 allele and the opioid receptor mu-1 gene have both been associated with BED, suggesting that BED is associated with greater hedonic eating and liking of food (44).

#### A CRITICAL REVIEW OF THE EVIDENCE FOR A FOOD ADDICTION MODEL OF OBESITY

The evidence reviewed suggests that certain foods, particularly those high in refined sugar and fats, and eating patterns, such as bingeing, may produce changes in the reward neurocircuitry and impairments in decision making that are associated with addictive patterns of eating in some individuals. These are similar to the changes in brain structure and function seen in drug addiction. However, this evidence is essentially descriptive. It is still unknown if these overlapping patterns are mechanistically implicated in both conditions. We believe that there is insufficient evidence to describe some forms of obesity as a food addiction, and its inclusion as a diagnostic category would be premature (see sidebar, Does the Neuroscience Evidence Support the Food Addiction Model?).

First, food addiction is not synonymous with obesity. Only a small percentage of obese individuals meet the diagnostic criteria for food addiction or a clinically relevant condition such as BED; some normal and underweight individuals also meet these criteria (95, 107). Food addiction is neither necessary nor sufficient for being overweight. At best, the neuroscience of compulsive eating only applies to a subset of individuals, some of whom will not be overweight. This is an important distinction given that the majority of neuroscience research to date has focused on brain changes in obese individuals.

Second, important differences exist between food and addictive drugs. Food, unlike drugs, is essential for survival. We are also exposed to food from birth. However, foods that tend to be associated with overconsumption and that are the subject of neuroscientific research, such as those

## DOES THE NEUROSCIENCE EVIDENCE SUPPORT THE FOOD ADDICTION MODEL?

Support for a food addiction model of obesity is based upon neurobiological and behavioral similarities between obesity and addiction. However, a number of methodological caveats weaken the case for food addiction. First, obesity is a complex, heterogeneous condition that can arise as the result of hormonal, thyroid, and genetic conditions or through a sedentary lifestyle. Second, although animal models provide strong evidence for the food addiction model, they employ highly constrained eating regimens that do not accurately reflect the ways in which humans consume food. Third, human cognitive and neuroimaging studies have focused predominantly on comparisons between normal-weight and obese individuals. These differences are best interpreted in relation to BMI and do not provide a satisfactory argument for a food addiction model. Only a small percentage of obese individuals meet the diagnostic criteria for food addiction, whereas some normal-weight and underweight individuals also meet the criteria. Fourth, small sample sizes, publication bias, and a lack of longitudinal evidence make it difficult to elucidate the relationship between observed changes to brain structure and function and overeating and obesity. We believe that it is premature to accept the food addiction model, yet it may prove to be a valuable explanation for subgroups of disordered eaters.

high in refined sugar and fat, are not essential for survival. These foods are the product of fairly recent industrial innovations that have greatly increased their purity and the quantities that we are able to consume. In this regard, refined foods do resemble the industrialization of addictive drugs that yielded cocaine from coca leaf or heroin from poppies. Refined foods, like addictive drugs, may produce powerful changes in the brain reward circuitry that we did not evolve for, leading to overconsumption and weight gain. This does not entail that many or most obese or overweight individuals have become addicted to food, such that they are unable to refuse foods high in sugar and fat due to neurobiological changes in their brain, or that these neurobiological changes play a significant explanatory role in the high rates of obesity or in an individual's difficulty in losing weight.

Third, obesity is a complex multifactorial and heterogeneous condition that can arise from sedentary lifestyles or other hormonal or thyroid conditions (105); there is no equivalent feature of drug addiction. Unlike addictive drugs, the addictive component of food has not yet been clearly defined (62). Distinguishing between normal consumption and compulsive abuse is even more difficult than in drug addiction. Even if food addiction is supported by the neuroscientific evidence, it is unlikely to be relevant to the majority of overweight or obese individuals (146). We agree with Ziauddeen & Fletcher (170) that food addiction most likely applies to a subset of individuals whose pattern of eating closely resembles drug addiction, such as individuals with BED. Even in this subset, a diagnosis of food addiction does not prevent these individuals from making autonomous healthy food choices. Even severely dependent drug-addicted individuals are able to refrain from drug use (77).

#### Methodological Limitations and Directions for Future Research

A number of methodological limitations or caveats weaken the case that the chronic consumption of refined foods produces changes in brain function that lead to addictive or uncontrolled eating. The most compelling evidence for the concept of food addiction comes from animal models (50, 169, 170), but the applicability of these findings to obese humans is uncertain. Animal studies do demonstrate that it is possible to induce addictive patterns of eating that are similar to patterns of

addictive drug use and involve common neurocircuitry. However, these studies employ highly constrained eating regimens that are of minimal relevance to the way in which humans encounter food (170). As with drug addiction studies, it takes considerable effort and environmental manipulation to get animals such as rodents addicted (1). Rats taught to self-administer opiates under standard conditions of addiction do not display this behavior if housed in more naturalistic conditions (e.g., with litter mates) (3, 134). Rats that have been trained to self-administer drugs will abstain when given a choice of other natural rewards. Studies of animal models of overeating in these limited environments therefore are of limited relevance to the settings in which we consume food.

Neuroimaging studies have identified differences in brain structure and function between normal-weight individuals and overweight or obese individuals. However, most of the neuroimaging and cognitive studies have focused on differences in brain structure and function in relation to obesity or increasing BMI. Very few studies have identified brain changes associated with behaviors related to food addiction or in clinically relevant populations, such as those with BED (170). Therefore, the findings described above should be understood in terms of BMI rather than food addiction per se. The extant neuroimaging literature is unable to support a food addiction model in humans (169), but a clearer picture may emerge as better-designed studies are conducted to test such models (9) using the YFAS or in clinical populations, such as individuals with BED (170).

It is also important to remember that many obese individuals do not display differences in brain structure and function. Differences identified in neuroimaging and cognitive studies represent averaged differences among groups of overweight or obese individuals and their normal-weight counterparts. Significant intragroup variation and overlap exist among individuals within these groups. For example, many severely obese (BMI>40) individuals exhibit striatal D2R levels that are similar to those of the normal-weight controls (162). Subsequent studies have not been able to replicate the reduced DA receptor levels described above, and we therefore cannot state conclusively that DA receptor levels are altered as a consequence of obesity in humans (169).

Many of the neuroimaging and behavioral findings in response to food-related stimuli or stress have been inconsistent or not replicated (169). Neuroimaging and cognitive studies are often conducted in small samples and are affected by publication bias (80, 81). Studies in larger populations are needed to resolve these inconsistencies. It is also not clear whether these differences are a cause or a consequence of overeating. Differences in the dopaminergic reward pathways in compulsive overeaters may be a causal mechanism that leaves some individuals more likely to engage in overeating and may also be a consequence of the overconsumption of energy-dense foods. The evidence is predominantly cross-sectional, so the direction of the relationship between impaired executive functioning and obesity is unclear. Prospective longitudinal research is needed to elucidate whether the consumption of "addictive" foods contributes to these alterations or, conversely, whether selective deficits in higher-order cognition increase excessive food consumption and weight gain.

Although it is clear that obesity is a highly heritable disorder, the contribution of genetics in the processing of food rewards is less clear, as the majority of research has focused on the genetics of obesity. More research on the role of specific genes in a variety of cognitive phenotypes (e.g., reward sensitivity, inhibitory control) may provide useful insights. However, the history of genetics research on complex behaviors suggests that caution is warranted when predicting the clinical utility of these findings. The effect sizes for the most strongly associated genes involved in excess weight are small (135). Although twin and adoption studies suggest that the heritability of obesity is substantial, the candidate genes thought to explain this heritability account for a marginal amount of disease risk. This is true for many complex behaviors (18).

Although it may be premature to accept a food addiction model of obesity, it would be unwise to rule it out as an explanation of obesity in a subpopulation of overeaters (9, 170). Ignoring

similarities may prevent us from enacting important public health policies that have been effective in other areas, such as tobacco control, or developing more effective treatments. It is important, however, that we do not misinterpret or misrepresent the neuroscience of overeating in ways that may have unintended adverse impacts on persons who are overweight or on the general public more broadly.

### IMPLICATIONS OF NEUROSCIENCE FOR OBESITY TREATMENT, PREVENTION, AND POLICY

#### **Emerging Neurobiological Treatments of Obesity**

Neuroscientists hope that treatments based upon the recognition of obesity as a form of food addiction will prove more effective than current therapies. Weight loss increases overall health and reduces cardiometabolic risk factors by improving lipid profiles and reducing blood pressure. Dietary interventions, exercise prescription, and therapeutic support groups are the most widely used weight-loss interventions (159); however, these interventions are not effective in reducing weight and overeating in many individuals.

Lifestyle interventions may be supplemented with pharmacological treatments. Weight loss with these medications is modest, however, averaging 3% to 8% at one year (for a review, see 104). Surgical treatments for obesity are reserved for patients who have failed to respond to a combination of lifestyle and pharmacological treatments. The most common interventions are gastric banding, Roux-en-Y gastric bypass, laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy, and biliopancreatic diversion. The average long-term excess weight loss is 47% to 70% (49); however, bariatric surgery can produce postoperative complications, including infection, metabolic disorders, and cardiovascular events. Individuals may also circumvent the surgical intervention by eating high-calorie foods in smaller amounts more often.

Unfortunately, for many obese and overweight individuals, the initial weight loss from these treatments is often followed by weight regain. The neuroscience of food addiction is thought by some to explain this rebound. Proponents claim that acknowledging that a certain subpopulation of individuals may be suffering from a food addiction may allow researchers and clinicians to build upon effective treatments for addiction (8, 67). Psychotherapies and cognitive training approaches targeting cognitive processes involved in addiction may provide new avenues for increasing weight loss in the long term. These approaches include selective inhibition training to strengthen impulse control (149), episodic future thinking to improve self-regulation (40), and psychotherapies to improve emotional regulation and tolerance and to replace food as a source of reward and pleasure (42).

Contingency management—an intervention based on operant conditioning principles that provides rewards or incentives (e.g., payments) for achieving certain outcomes—has proven effective in reducing drug use in addicted individuals while the contingencies remain in place (123). It also has the potential to reduce overeating and encourage weight loss in overweight persons (106). However, public support is limited for policies that pay drug-addicted or overweight individuals for taking actions that many believe they should take in any case. It is not clear what impact a wider acceptance of the food addiction model would have on public support for contingency management programs, although recent research suggests that it is unlikely to engender sympathy (96).

An addiction-based approach may also lead to novel pharmacological treatments that target the DA system and thereby make overeating less rewarding (152). Contrave (a bupropion/naltrexone combination) and Qsymia (a phentermine/topiramate combination) are dopaminergic medications

currently available in the United States for long-term weight management (152). Dopamine agonists have proven effective in preclinical trials in both drug addiction (119) and obesity (99). However, they have not been shown to be particularly effective in the long term in human clinical trials. The limited effectiveness and significant side effects of the current range of pharmacological treatments aimed at the DA pathway for drug addiction (86, 119) should temper enthusiasm for their use in treating overeating. Drugs that block the liking of food through the opioid system (e.g., the opioid antagonist naltrexone) are also being trialed (152). Naltrexone has been trialed for a range of drug and behavioral addictions but has had only minimal impact (119).

Neurobiological explanations of addiction and obesity have been used to justify trials of more invasive or high-risk interventions, such as deep brain stimulation (DBS) (142, 164). DBS is an invasive neurosurgical procedure that involves the insertion of microelectrodes into the target region of the brain. It has been widely used in the treatment of Parkinson's disease and other movement disorders (e.g., dystonia) (88). DBS is now being trialed in a range of psychiatric disorders (e.g., obsessive-compulsive disorder, depression) (88) and drug addictions (29), and it has been proposed for use in the treatment of eating disorders and obesity (98, 142, 164). Although there have been some positive case reports, the lack of adequate follow-up, small sample sizes, and the significant potential for publication bias suggest the need for extreme caution in interpreting these findings (29).

The growing interest in noninvasive brain stimulation (e.g., transcranial magnetic stimulation, transcranial direct current stimulation) or modulation (e.g., real-time neurofeedback) techniques may provide safer methods of attempting to reduce some of the addictive cognitions associated with overeating (20, 66), particularly when combined with other forms of psychotherapy or lifestyle interventions (145). However, more research of their effectiveness in sufficiently large samples is needed before these techniques can be considered a worthwhile proposition.

An overemphasis on neurobiology may also result in an overreliance on medicalized interventions at the expense of more broadly effective public health approaches or those that address the social drivers of obesity (e.g., poverty, stress, food availability, and sedentary lifestyle) (70, 94). A focus on obesity as a neurobiological disorder of addictive eating may distract attention from the significant role of exercise in reducing weight. In addition to the health benefits associated with weight loss, exercise can have important neurobiological, psychological, and behavioral benefits that may support decision making (129). Exercise may not always be possible at the outset for severely or morbidly obese individuals, who may first require surgical or pharmacological intervention.

#### Stigma and Public Attitudes Toward Obese Individuals

Obesity is highly stigmatized in most Western countries (126). Obese individuals are often seen as lazy and lacking self-control, motivation, and intelligence (126, 131). Weight-based discrimination has increased substantially since 2000 and is comparable to race-based discrimination (125); the stigma associated with obesity has also significantly increased. Weight bias can negatively affect employment outcomes for overweight individuals, including salaries and hiring and promotion decisions (126). Weight-based stigma can have significant adverse health consequences for obese individuals, including depression, body dissatisfaction, and poor physical health (97). Stigma can also undermine attempts to lose weight, exercise (147), and regulate food consumption by reducing self-esteem and increasing emotional eating (102) or other disordered eating behaviors (e.g., BED) (73, 126).

Individuals who are not held responsible for their condition, such as persons with Alzheimer's disease, receive more sympathy than those believed to be personally responsible, such as obese and

drug-addicted persons (37). The belief that obesity and weight are primarily personal issues and not a corporate or government responsibility prevents critical policy change that may reduce the prevalence of overweight and provide better treatments and prevention (26, 127). Some argue that neurobiological explanations of obesity that mitigate personal responsibility might help to reduce stigma and change these attitudes (93, 121, 131). However, the limited empirical evidence on the impact of neuroscientific explanations on the stigmatization of obesity, alcohol dependence, and other mental illnesses suggests that optimism may be misplaced. A recent survey of public attitudes in the United States found that increased public endorsement of neurobiological explanations of alcohol dependence was not accompanied by any reduction in stigma (122). Other studies have found that biogenetic explanations of mental illness may in fact harden people's attitudes toward addicted or mentally ill individuals (6, 91). A recent survey of people from the United States and Australia found that holding the view that obesity was a food addiction did not reduce weight-based stigma (95). However, another recent study did find that exposure to the view that obesity was the result of a food addiction did reduce the blame and stigmatization attributed to obese individuals (93). More research is needed to assess the impact that a view of obesity as a food addiction may have on the understanding and treatment of obese individuals. We cannot simply assume, as many commentators do (39), that neurobiological explanations of obesity or drug addiction will reduce stigma.

#### Self-Efficacy, Eating, and Weight

Proponents of a food addiction model of obesity point out that it may reduce some of the blame and self-stigmatization that go along with being significantly overweight (59, 93). Similar views have been proposed for brain-based explanations of drug addiction (15, 39, 108). Pearl & Lebowitz (121) found that biological explanations of obesity decreased self-blame. However, describing overeating as a form of food addiction may have unanticipated adverse impacts on addicted individuals' beliefs about their ability to reduce their weight or control their eating. Pearl & Lebowitz (121) also found that those exposed to biological explanations of obesity thought that their weight was less under control (i.e., reduced their self-efficacy) and expressed more negative views about their weight.

A diagnosis of food addiction may also affect the sorts of treatments for, or efforts made by, obese people to reduce their weight. On the one hand, the perception that a medical solution to their condition exists may increase their willingness to seek treatment. On the other hand, telling overweight individuals that they are addicted to foods because of long-lasting changes in their brain may undermine their motivation to reduce their caloric intake or to adopt healthy eating and exercise patterns (94). It is also not clear what impact neurobiological explanations may have on the majority of the population who struggle to avoid highly palatable foods but are not obese. We currently do not know what impact telling people that they have a food addiction will have on their eating and weight. The clinical and social repercussions need to be empirically investigated before we assume that neuroscientific explanations of obesity will produce only desirable changes in individual and public perception and attitudes (94).

#### Public Policy Implications of a Food Addiction Model of Obesity

Tobacco control provides important policy lessons that may prove more effective and cost-effective in reducing excess weight and overconsumption of food than treating obese individuals (27, 62). As some commentators have pointed out, it will not be possible to clinically treat our way out of the current obesity epidemic (24, 94, 170). Although clinical treatment is important for obese individuals, public health approaches are needed to modify obesogenic environments and to curb overweight and obesity on a population level (25). Unfortunately, little public support exists for

many of the public health policies that professionals believe will be most effective in reducing population obesity (96), such as taxation of hyperpalatable foods and better regulation of the sale and promotion of energy-dense foods, including regulations on labeling and product formulation and restrictions on where they can be sold (68).

The food industry has employed sophisticated industrial techniques to enhance the rewarding properties of their products, such as manipulating salt, sugar, fat, and other food additives to make foods more like addictive commodities (35, 61). The spike in obesity rates has tracked the increased availability of cheap, highly refined, calorie-dense foods (23). A number of jurisdictions (e.g., Denmark, Hungary, and some US states) have attempted to impose regulations or taxes on the sale of certain food products, including sugar and fats (56, 68), with minimal success (56).

The food industry, like the tobacco industry, has actively resisted any policies that would affect the consumption of their products across the population because such policies would reduce their profits (27). Proponents of the food addiction model of obesity argue that highlighting the addictive nature of energy-dense foods, particularly those high in refined sugars and fats (103), may increase support for public health measures to reduce weight and overconsumption in the population (4, 59, 62). The recognition that nicotine was an addictive commodity was instrumental in shifting public and political support for greater regulation of tobacco products, which ultimately contributed to the rapid decline in current smoking rates (21).

Little empirical evidence is available to test the claim that acceptance of the food addiction model of obesity will increase public support for public health policies toward obesity. In one study, over 80% of a sample of the general public agreed that some foods were addictive, but few believed that policies, such as taxes on high-sugar or high-fat foods, or regulations on the sale or advertising of these foods would be effective in reducing consumption or weight (96). Further research is needed to establish how food addiction models of obesity would affect support for these policies.

A further risk is that a focus on food addiction may distract attention from policies that modify obesogenic environments (94), that is, social environments that promote overconsumption by making high-calorie foods readily available at low prices (68). These policies include financial incentives to increase physical activity (e.g., tax breaks or insurance coverage, implementing community-based support groups) and the design of more active urban environments with features such as bicycle paths, parks, and walkable neighborhoods (87). A focus on therapeutic treatments of food addiction may undermine public health policies that aim to limit the availability of foods with a higher potential for overconsumption and weight gain (109, 24).

Commercial industries often have an interest in promoting strategies that focus on high-risk groups, distracting attention from and undermining broad-based approaches that reduce total consumption in the population (12). The alcohol industry has promoted a view of alcoholism as a rare form of addiction to oppose increased taxes and restrictions on the marketing of alcohol (11, 12). The alcohol industry has used brain disease models of addiction to argue that alcohol problems affect only a minority of individuals who can be identified using genetic and neurobiological screening and targeted for preventive or therapeutic measures (109). The food industry may similarly support research into identifying the genetic and neurobiological bases of individual vulnerability to food addiction. Although this support may appear to promote scientific research, it also serves the food industry's interests by deflecting attention away from obesogenic environments and toward obese individuals, mimicking tactics used by the alcohol, tobacco, and gambling industries (11, 12). Fixating narrowly on medical treatments of food addiction is also unlikely to be cost effective (24).

The argument for the substantial regulation of foods is perhaps stronger in the case of children, given their greater susceptibility to advertising, their underdeveloped cognitive capacities (71, 72), and the significant impact that advertising has on their food choices (165). Much greater public support exists for public health strategies that aim at children, notably advertising bans (96). This support may allow policy makers to argue for a broader regulatory approach to reduce overconsumption by changing the obesogenic environments children are exposed to (25), including stricter regulations on the foods available at schools (59). Regulation of this domain could be an efficient way to reduce the alarming rates of childhood obesity, although the ubiquitous and embedded nature of food advertising through modern media (e.g., Internet, mobiles) would make such regulation challenging (110). Education programs that communicate the addictive as well as harmful qualities of certain foods could also a play a role (59). Incorporating public policy changes to protect children could well be the first step in regulating adult access to "addictive" foods.

#### CONCLUSIONS

The classification of certain foods and eating styles as addictive—based on supportive evidence from animal and human research—has a seductive appeal. This approach promises to produce new treatment options and modify existing treatments for obese individuals. However, insufficient evidence currently exists to support the concept of food addiction; it is a classification that is underdeveloped and requires more rigorous research and analysis to better define and test its validity in obese humans. More rigorous human neuroimaging and neurocognitive research is needed in individuals that better represent the food addiction phenotype.

Assuming that neuroscience research is able to justify the diagnostic category of a food addiction, we will still need to thoughtfully consider the clinical, social, and public health policy impact of adopting such a view (see **Table 1**). Investigations should include empirical studies to examine what impact a food addiction diagnosis may have on those who receive it as well as the impact on the behavior of the general public, on attitudes toward overweight and obese individuals, and on views of various public health policies to reduce the harmful impact of overeating and excess weight. It is not sufficient to make plausible but unsubstantiated assumptions about the positive social impact of a food addiction model of obesity.

When considering policies that view obesity as a form of food addiction, researchers should heed the lessons from successful public health campaigns to reduce tobacco smoking, a common

	Positive implications	Negative implications
Treatment	More effective treatments of excess weight in some individuals that target cognitive processes involved in addiction; treatments include psychotherapy, cognitive training, and novel pharmacological approaches targeting the dopamine or opioid systems.	Distract attention from the beneficial role of exercise in weight loss, cardiovascular health, and cognitive enhancement. Justify the use of risky, more invasive treatment options (e.g., deep brain stimulation).
Policy	Increased public support for public health measures to reduce weight and overconsumption in the population.	An overreliance on medicalized interventions at the expense of broadly effective public health approaches that address obesogenic environments (e.g., taxation and regulation).
Attitudes	Reduced stigmatization of and discrimination toward overweight individuals. Reduced self-stigmatization and self-blame associated with being overweight.	Adverse effects on individuals' beliefs in their ability to reduce their weight or control their eating. Those exposed to biological explanations of obesity may view their weight as less under their control, thereby reducing their motivation to engage in weight-loss attempts.

Table 1 Implications of a food addiction model for treatment, prevention, and policy

addictive behavior. Policy makers, scientists, and clinicians should also be wary of the misuse of the concept of addiction by the food industry, as similar industries have done for other addictive commodities. It is important that neurobiological research findings, however compelling, are not used in isolation to treat severely obese people, but rather are incorporated into population-based approaches that use multiple levels of influence to improve obesity treatment and prevention.

#### **FUTURE ISSUES**

- 1. How is food addiction best defined? What are the core cognitive and behavioral phenotypes from which to measure food addiction?
- 2. Are the neurobiological alterations reported in the literature best understood in terms of BMI, or are these characteristics of an addiction to hyperpalatable foods? Which population of individuals does a food addiction model best fit?
- 3. Should future research focus on behavioral and cognitive characteristics of food addiction in subpopulations of overweight individuals (e.g., those with BED) rather than simply individuals above a certain BMI?
- 4. How might a diagnosis of food addiction affect obese or overweight individuals' beliefs in their ability to control their eating and lose weight or their willingness to seek treatment?
- 5. What impact would acceptance of a food addiction explanation of excess weight have on public support for public health policies (e.g., taxation and regulation on the sale and promotion of high-sugar and high-fat foods) that aim to reduce overconsumption at the population level?
- 6. Would a food addiction model reduce the stigma associated with obesity and being overweight, and what impact would reduced stigma have on people's eating and other lifestyle choices?

#### **DISCLOSURE STATEMENT**

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research was funded by an Australian Research Council Discovery Early Career Award (DE140101097) and a Monash University Strategic Grant awarded to Adrian Carter. Antonio Verdejo-Garcia is funded by a Medical Research Grant of the Ian Potter Foundation (Victoria, Australia), and Murat Yücel is supported by a National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia Fellowship (APP1021973).

#### LITERATURE CITED

- 1. Ahmed SH. 2012. The science of making drug-addicted animals. Neuroscience 211:107-25
- Alessi S, Petry N. 2003. Pathological gambling severity is associated with impulsivity in a delay discounting procedure. *Bebav. Process.* 64:345–54
- Alexander BK, Coambs RB, Hadaway PF. 1978. The effect of housing and gender on morphine selfadministration in rats. *Psychopharmacology* 58:175–79

- Allen PJ, Batra P, Geiger BM, Wommack T, Gilhooly C, Pothos EN. 2012. Rationale and consequences of reclassifying obesity as an addictive disorder: neurobiology, food environment and social policy perspectives. *Physiol. Behav.* 107:126–37
- Andrews ZB, Liu Z-W, Walllingford N, Erion DM, Borok E, et al. 2008. UCP2 mediates ghrelin's action on NPY/AgRP neurons by lowering free radicals. *Nature* 454:846–51
- Angermeyer MC, Holzinger A, Carta MG, Schomerus G. 2011. Biogenetic explanations and public acceptance of mental illness: systematic review of population studies. Br. J. Psychiatry 199:367–72
- 7. Aponte Y, Atasoy D, Sternson SM. 2011. AGRP neurons are sufficient to orchestrate feeding behavior rapidly and without training. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14:351–55
- Avena NM, Bocarsly ME, Hoebel BG, Gold MS. 2011. Overlaps in the nosology of substance abuse and overeating: the translational implications of "food addiction." *Curr. Drug Abuse Rev.* 4:133–39
- Avena NM, Gearhardt AN, Gold MS, Wang G-J, Potenza MN. 2012. Tossing the baby out with the bathwater after a brief rinse? The potential downside of dismissing food addiction based on limited data. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 13:514
- Avena NM, Rada P, Hoebel BG. 2008. Evidence for sugar addiction: behavioral and neurochemical effects of intermittent, excessive sugar intake. *Neurosci. Biobebav. Rev.* 32:20–39
- Babor T, Caetano R, Casswell S, Edwards G, Giesbrecht N, et al. 2010. Alcohol: No Ordinary Commodity. Research and Public Policy. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Babor TF. 2009. Alcohol research and the alcoholic beverage industry: issues, concerns and conflicts of interest. *Addiction* 104:34–47
- Baler RD, Volkow ND. 2006. Drug addiction: the neurobiology of disrupted self-control. Trends Mol. Med. 12:559–66
- Barry D, Clarke M, Petry NM. 2009. Obesity and its relationship to addictions: Is overeating a form of addictive behavior? *Am. J. Addict.* 18:439–51
- Bechara A. 2005. Decision making, impulse control and loss of willpower to resist drugs: a neurocognitive perspective. *Nat. Neurosci.* 8:1458–63
- Bell S, Carter A, Mathews R, Gartner C, Lucke J, Hall W. 2014. Views of addiction neuroscientists and clinicians on the clinical impact of a "brain disease model of addiction." *Neuroethics* 7:19–27
- Berridge KC. 2009. "Liking" and "wanting" food rewards: brain substrates and roles in eating disorders. *Physiol. Behav.* 97:537–50
- Blum K, Braverman ER, Holder JM, Lubar JF, Monastra VJ, et al. 2000. The reward deficiency syndrome: a biogenetic model for the diagnosis and treatment of impulsive, addictive and compulsive behaviors. *J. Psychoact. Drugs* 32:1–112
- 18. Bogardus C. 2009. Missing heritability and GWAS utility. Obesity (Silver Spring) 17:209-10
- Bogg T, Roberts BW. 2004. Conscientiousness and health-related behaviors: a meta-analysis of the leading behavioral contributors to mortality. *Psychol. Bull.* 130:887–919
- Bou Khalil R, El Hachem C. 2014. Potential role of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in obesity. *Eat. Weight Disord.* 19:403–7
- 21. Brandt AM. 2007. The Cigarette Century. Atlanta, GA: Basic Books
- Briggs DI, Andrews ZB. 2011. Metabolic status regulates ghrelin function on energy homeostasis. Neuroendocrinology 93:48–57
- 23. Brownell KD. 2005. Does a "toxic" environment make obesity inevitable? Obes. Manag. 1:52-55
- Brownell KD. 2010. The humbling experience of treating obesity: Should we persist or desist? *Behav. Res. Ther.* 48:717–19
- Brownell KD, Horgen KB. 2004. Food Fight: The Inside Story of the Food Industry, America's Obesity Crisis, and What We Can Do About It. Chicago: Contemporary Books
- Brownell KD, Kersh R, Ludwig DS, Post RC, Puhl RM, et al. 2010. Personal responsibility and obesity: a constructive approach to a controversial issue. *Health Aff. (Milkwood)* 29:379–87
- Brownell KD, Warner KE. 2009. The perils of ignoring history: Big Tobacco played dirty and millions died. How similar is Big Food? *Milbank Q.* 87:259–94
- Carpenter CL, Wong AM, Li Z, Noble EP, Heber D. 2013. Association of dopamine D2 receptor and leptin receptor genes with clinically severe obesity. *Obesity* 21:E467–73

- Carter A, Hall W. 2011. Proposals to trial deep brain stimulation to treat addiction are premature. Addiction 106:235–37
- Castellanos EH, Charboneau E, Dietrich MS, Park S, Bradley BP, et al. 2009. Obese adults have visual attention bias for food cue images: evidence for altered reward system function. *Int. J. Obes.* 33:1063–73
- Cecil JE, Tavendale R, Watt P, Hetherington MM, Palmer CN. 2008. An obesity-associated FTO gene variant and increased energy intake in children. N. Engl. J. Med. 359:2558–66
- 32. Cevallos M. 2011. If food addiction exists, blame the brain-not the cookies. Los Angeles Times, April 5
- 33. Chapman BP, Fiscella K, Duberstein P, Coletta M, Kawachi I. 2009. Can the influence of childhood socioeconomic status on men's and women's adult body mass be explained by adult socioeconomic status or personality? Findings from a national sample. *Health Psychol.* 28:419–27
- Chuang YF, Tanaka T, Beason-Held LL, An Y, Terracciano A, et al. 2015. FTO genotype and aging: pleiotropic longitudinal effects on adiposity, brain function, impulsivity and diet. Mol. Psychiatry 20:140– 47
- Cocores JA, Gold MS. 2009. The Salted Food Addiction Hypothesis may explain overeating and the obesity epidemic. *Med. Hypotheses* 73:892–99
- 36. Contreras-Lopez O, Martin-Perez C, Vilar-Lopez R, Verdejo-Garcia A. 2016. Ventral and dorsal striatum networks in obesity: link to food craving and weight gain. *Biol. Psychiatry*. In press
- Crandall CS, D'Anello S, Sakalli N, Lazarus E, Nejtardt GW, Feather N. 2001. An attribution-value model of prejudice: anti-fat attitudes in six nations. *Personal. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 27:30–37
- D'Addario C, Micioni Di Bonaventura MV, Pucci M, Romano A, Gaetani S, et al. 2014. Endocannabinoid signaling and food addiction. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 47:203–24
- Dackis C, O'Brien C. 2005. Neurobiology of addiction: treatment and public policy ramifications. Nat. Neurosci. 8:1431–36
- 40. Daniel TO, Said M, Stanton CM, Epstein LH. 2015. Episodic future thinking reduces delay discounting and energy intake in children. *Eat. Behav.* 18:20–24
- 41. Davis C. 2013. A narrative review of binge eating and addictive behaviors: shared associations with seasonality and personality factors. *Front. Psychiatry* 4:183
- 42. Davis C, Carter JC. 2009. Compulsive overeating as an addiction disorder. A review of theory and evidence. *Appetite* 53:1–8
- Davis C, Curtis C, Levitan RD, Carter JC, Kaplan AS, Kennedy JL. 2011. Evidence that "food addiction" is a valid phenotype of obesity. *Appetite* 57:711–17
- 44. Davis CA, Levitan RD, Reid C, Carter JC, Kaplan AS, et al. 2009. Dopamine for "wanting" and opioids for "liking": a comparison of obese adults with and without binge eating. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* 17:1220– 25
- Day FR, Loos RJ. 2011. Developments in obesity genetics in the era of genome-wide association studies. *J. Nutrigenet. Nutrigenom.* 4:222–38
- 46. de Araujo IE, Oliveira-Maia AJ, Sotnikova TD, Gainetdinov RR, Caron MG, et al. 2008. Food reward in the absence of taste receptor signaling. *Neuron* 57:930–41
- Dietrich MO, Bober J, Ferreira JG, Tellez LA, Mineur YS, et al. 2012. AgRP neurons regulate development of dopamine neuronal plasticity and nonfood-associated behaviors. *Nat. Neurosci.* 15:1108–10
- Doehring A, von Hentig N, Graff J, Salamat S, Schmidt M, et al. 2009. Genetic variants altering dopamine D2 receptor expression or function modulate the risk of opiate addiction and the dosage requirements of methadone substitution. *Pharmacogenet. Genom.* 19:407–14
- Eldar S, Heneghan H, Brethauer S, Schauer P. 2011. Bariatric surgery for treatment of obesity. Int. J. Obes. 35:S16–21
- Epstein DH, Shaham Y. 2010. Cheesecake-eating rats and the question of food addiction. Nat. Neurosci. 13:529–31
- 51. Farooqi IS, Bullmore E, Keogh J, Gillard J, O'Rahilly S, Fletcher PC. 2007. Leptin regulates striatal regions and human eating behavior. *Science* 317:1355
- 52. Field M, Eastwood B, Bradley BP, Mogg K. 2006. Selective processing of cannabis cues in regular cannabis users. *Drug Alcohol Depend.* 85:75–82
- Field M, Mogg K, Bradley BP. 2004. Eye movements to smoking-related cues: effects of nicotine deprivation. *Psychopharmacology* 173:116–23

- Field M, Mogg K, Zetteler J, Bradley BP. 2004. Attentional biases for alcohol cues in heavy and light social drinkers: the roles of initial orienting and maintained attention. *Psychopharmacology* 176:88–93
- Fitzpatrick S, Gilbert S, Serpell L. 2013. Systematic review: Are overweight and obese individuals impaired on behavioural tasks of executive functioning? *Neuropsychol. Rev.* 23:138–56
- Fletcher JM, Frisvold D, Tefft N. 2010. Taxing soft drinks and restricting access to vending machines to curb child obesity. *Health Aff. (Millwood)* 29:1059–66
- Franken IH, Kroon LY, Wiers RW, Jansen A. 2000. Selective cognitive processing of drug cues in heroin dependence. *J. Psychopharmacol.* 14:395–400
- Frayling TM, Timpson NJ, Weedon MN, Zeggini E, Freathy RM, et al. 2007. A common variant in the *FTO* gene is associated with body mass index and predisposes to childhood and adult obesity. *Science* 316:889–94
- Gearhardt AN, Bragg MA, Pearl RL, Schvey NA, Roberto CA, Brownell KD. 2012. Obesity and public policy. Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 8:405–30
- Gearhardt AN, Corbin WR, Brownell KD. 2009. Preliminary validation of the Yale Food Addiction Scale. *Appetite* 52:430–36
- Gearhardt AN, Davis C, Kuschner R, Brownell KD. 2011. The addiction potential of hyperpalatable foods. *Curr. Drug Abuse Rev.* 4:140–45
- Gearhardt AN, Grilo CM, DiLeone RJ, Brownell KD, Potenza MN. 2011. Can food be addictive? Public health and policy implications. *Addiction* 106:1208–12
- Gearhardt AN, White MA, Masheb RM, Morgan PT, Crosby RD, Grilo CM. 2012. An examination of the food addiction construct in obese patients with binge eating disorder. *Int. J. Eat. Disord.* 45:657–63
- Geiger B, Haburcak M, Avena N, Moyer M, Hoebel B, Pothos E. 2009. Deficits of mesolimbic dopamine neurotransmission in rat dietary obesity. *Neuroscience* 159:1193–99
- Gerken T, Girard CA, Tung Y-CL, Webby CJ, Saudek V, et al. 2007. The obesity-associated FTO gene encodes a 2-oxoglutarate-dependent nucleic acid demethylase. Science 318:1469–72
- Gluck ME, Alonso-Alonso M, Piaggi P, Weise CM, Jumpertz-von Schwartzenberg R, et al. 2015. Neuromodulation targeted to the prefrontal cortex induces changes in energy intake and weight loss in obesity. *Obesity* 23:2149–56
- 67. Gold MS, Graham NA. 2011. Food addiction & obesity treatment development. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 17:1126–27
- Gortmaker SL, Swinburn BA, Levy D, Carter R, Mabry PL, et al. 2011. Changing the future of obesity: science, policy, and action. *Lancet* 378:838–47
- Guerrieri R, Nederkoorn C, Stankiewicz K, Alberts H, Geschwind N, et al. 2007. The influence of trait and induced state impulsivity on food intake in normal-weight healthy women. *Appetite* 49:66–73
- Hall W, Carter A, Forlini C. 2015. The brain disease model of addiction: Is it supported by the evidence and has it delivered on its promises? *Lancet Psychiatry* 2:105–10
- Harris JL, Pomeranz JL, Lobstein T, Brownell KD. 2009. A crisis in the marketplace: how food marketing contributes to childhood obesity and what can be done. *Annu. Rev. Public Health* 30:211–25
- Hastings G, Stead M, McDermott L, Forsyth A, MacKintosh AM, et al. 2003. Review of research on the effects of food promotion to children. http://tna.europarchive.org/20110116113217/http://www.food. gov.uk/multimedia/pdfs/foodpromotiontochildren1.pdf
- Hayden-Wade HA, Stein RI, Ghaderi A, Saelens BE, Zabinski MF, Wilfley DE. 2005. Prevalence, characteristics, and correlates of teasing experiences among overweight children vs. non-overweight peers. *Obes. Res.* 13:1381–92
- 74. Hendrikse J, Cachia R, Kothe E, McPhie S, Skouteris H, Hayden M. 2015. Attentional biases for food cues in overweight and individuals with obesity: a systematic review of the literature. Obes. Rev. 16:424–32
- Higgins GA, Sellers EM, Fletcher PJ. 2013. From obesity to substance abuse: therapeutic opportunities for 5-HT2C receptor agonists. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 34:560–70
- 76. Huget J. 2011. When food becomes a consuming addiction. The Washington Post, Jan. 20
- Hyman SE. 2007. The neurobiology of addiction: implications for voluntary control of behavior. Am. J. Bioetb. 7:8–11
- Hyman SE, Malenka RC. 2001. Addiction and the brain: the neurobiology of compulsion and its persistence. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 2:695–703

- Ifland J, Preuss H, Marcus M, Rourke K, Taylor W, et al. 2009. Refined food addiction: a classic substance use disorder. *Med. Hypotheses* 72:518–26
- 80. Ioannidis J, Munafo MR, Fusar-Poli P, Nosek BA, David SP. 2014. Publication and other reporting biases in cognitive sciences: detection, prevalence, and prevention. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 18:235–41
- Ioannidis JP. 2011. Excess significance bias in the literature on brain volume abnormalities. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 68:773–80
- Ioannidis JP, Ntzani EE, Trikalinos TA, Contopoulos-Ioannidis DG. 2001. Replication validity of genetic association studies. *Nat. Genet.* 29:306–9
- Johnson PM, Kenny PJ. 2010. Dopamine D2 receptors in addiction-like reward dysfunction and compulsive eating in obese rats. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13:635–41
- Kenny PJ, Voren G, Johnson PM. 2013. Dopamine D2 receptors and striatopallidal transmission in addiction and obesity. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 23:535–38
- 85. Koob GF, Le Moal M. 2006. Neurobiology of Addiction. New York: Academic
- Koob GF, Lloyd GK, Mason BJ. 2009. Development of pharmacotherapies for drug addiction: a Rosetta Stone approach. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 8:500–15
- Koohsari MJ, Sugiyama T, Sahlqvist S, Mavoa S, Hadgraft N, Owen N. 2015. Neighborhood environmental attributes and adults' sedentary behaviors: review and research agenda. Prev. Med. 77:141–49
- 88. Krack P, Hariz MI, Baunez C, Guridi J, Obeso JA. 2010. Deep brain stimulation: from neurology to psychiatry? *Trends Neurosci.* 33:474–84
- Krashes MJ, Koda S, Ye C, Rogan SC, Adams AC, et al. 2011. Rapid, reversible activation of AgRP neurons drives feeding behavior in mice. *J. Clin. Investig.* 121:1424–28
- Kulendran M, Vlaev I, Sugden C, King D, Ashrafian H, et al. 2014. Neuropsychological assessment as a predictor of weight loss in obese adolescents. *Int. J. Obes.* 38:507–12
- Kvaale EP, Haslam N, Gottdiener WH. 2013. The "side effects" of medicalization: a meta-analytic review of how biogenetic explanations affect stigma. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 33:782–94
- Labouèbe G, Liu S, Dias C, Zou H, Wong JC, et al. 2013. Insulin induces long-term depression of ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons via endocannabinoids. *Nat. Neurosci.* 16:300–8
- Latner JD, Puhl RM, Murakami JM, O'Brien KS. 2014. Food addiction as a causal model of obesity. Effects on stigma, blame, and perceived psychopathology. *Appetite* 77:77–82
- Lee NM, Carter A, Owen N, Hall WD. 2012. The neurobiology of overeating. Treating overweight individuals should make use of neuroscience research, but not at the expense of population approaches to diet and lifestyle. *EMBO Rep.* 13:785–90
- Lee NM, Hall WD, Lucke J, Forlini C, Carter A. 2014. Food addiction and its impact on weight-based stigma and the treatment of obese individuals in the US and Australia. *Nutrients* 6:5312–26
- Lee NM, Lucke J, Hall WD, Meurk C, Boyle FM, Carter A. 2013. Public views on food addiction and obesity: implications for policy and treatment. *PLOS ONE* 8:e74836
- Lillis J, Levin ME, Hayes SC. 2011. Exploring the relationship between body mass index and healthrelated quality of life: a pilot study of the impact of weight self-stigma and experiential avoidance. *J. Health Psychol.* 16:722–27
- Lipsman N, Woodside B, Lozano AM. 2013. Evaluating the potential of deep brain stimulation for treatment-resistant anorexia nervosa. *Handb. Clin. Neurol.* 116:271–76
- Liu Y, von Deneen KM, Kobeissy FH, Gold MS. 2010. Food addiction and obesity: evidence from bench to bedside. *J. Psychoact. Drugs* 42:133–45
- Locke AE, Kahali B, Berndt SI, Justice AE, Pers TH, et al. 2015. Genetic studies of body mass index yield new insights for obesity biology. *Nature* 518:197–206
- London ED, Ernst M, Grant S, Bonson K, Weinstein A. 2000. Orbitofrontal cortex and human drug abuse: functional imaging. *Cereb. Cortex* 10:334–42
- 102. Loxton NJ, Dawe S, Cahill A. 2011. Does negative mood drive the urge to eat? The contribution of negative mood, exposure to food cues and eating style. *Appetite* 56:368–74
- 103. Lustig RH, Schmidt LA, Brindis CD. 2012. Public health: the toxic truth about sugar. Nature 482:27-29
- 104. Manning S, Pucci A, Finer N. 2014. Pharmacotherapy for obesity: novel agents and paradigms. Ther. Adv. Chronic Dis. 5:135–48

- 105. Marcus MD, Wildes JE. 2009. Obesity: Is it a mental disorder? Int. J. Eat. Disord. 42:739-53
- Marteau TM, Hollands GJ, Fletcher PC. 2012. Changing human behavior to prevent disease: the importance of targeting automatic processes. *Science* 337:1492–95
- 107. Meule A. 2011. How prevalent is "food addiction"? Front. Psychiatry 2:61
- Meurk C, Fraser D, Weier M, Lucke J, Carter A, Hall W. 2015. Assessing the place of neurobiological explanations in accounts of a family member's addiction. *Drug Alcohol Rev.* doi: 10.1111/dar.12318
- Midanik L. 2006. Biomedicalization of Alcohol Studies: Methodological Shifts and Institutional Challenges. New Brunswick, NJ: Trans. Publ.
- Montgomery KC, Chester J. 2009. Interactive food and beverage marketing: targeting adolescents in the digital age. *J. Adolesc. Health* 45:S18–29
- 111. Nederkoorn C, Braet C, Van Eijs Y, Tanghe A, Jansen A. 2006. Why obese children cannot resist food: the role of impulsivity. *Eat. Behav.* 7:315–22
- 112. Nederkoorn C, Houben K, Hofmann W, Roefs A, Jansen A. 2010. Control yourself or just eat what you like? Weight gain over a year is predicted by an interactive effect of response inhibition and implicit preference for snack foods. *Health Psychol.* 29:389–93
- Nederkoorn C, Smulders FTY, Havermans RC, Roefs A, Jansen A. 2006. Impulsivity in obese women. Appetite 47:253–56
- Nieh EH, Matthews GA, Allsop SA, Presbrey KN, Leppla CA, et al. 2015. Decoding neural circuits that control compulsive sucrose seeking. *Cell* 160:528–41
- Nijs IMT, Franken IHA. 2012. Attentional processing of food cues in overweight and obese individuals. *Curr. Obes. Rep.* 1:106–13
- Nijs IMT, Franken IHA, Muris P. 2010. Food-related Stroop interference in obese and normal-weight individuals: behavioral and electrophysiological indices. *Eat. Behav.* 11:258–65
- 117. Noble EP, Blum K, Khalsa ME, Ritchie T, Montgomery A, et al. 1993. Allelic association of the D2 dopamine receptor gene with cocaine dependence. *Drug Alcobol Depend.* 33:271–85
- Nonogaki K, Strack AM, Dallman MF, Tecott LH. 1998. Leptin-independent hyperphagia and type 2 diabetes in mice with a mutated serotonin 5-HT<sub>2C</sub> receptor gene. *Nat. Med.* 4:1152–56
- 119. Nutt D, Lingford-Hughes A. 2008. Addiction: the clinical interface. Br. J. Pharmacol. 154:397-405
- Pannacciulli N, Del Parigi A, Chen K, Le DSN, Reiman EM, Tataranni PA. 2006. Brain abnormalities in human obesity: a voxel-based morphometric study. *NeuroImage* 31:1419–25
- Pearl R, Lebowitz M. 2014. Beyond personal responsibility: effects of causal attributions for overweight and obesity on weight-related beliefs, stigma, and policy support. *Psychol. Health* 29:1176–91
- 122. Pescosolido BA, Martin JK, Long JS, Medina TR, Phelan J, Link B. 2010. "A disease like any other?" A decade of change in public reactions to schizophrenia, depression, and alcohol dependence. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 167:1321–30
- 123. Petry N, Alessi SM, Rush C. 2011. Contingency management treatment for drug and alcohol use disorders. In *Addiction and Responsibility*, ed. JS Poland, G Graham, pp. 225–46. London: MIT Press
- Petry NM. 2003. Discounting of money, health, and freedom in substance abusers and controls. *Drug* Alcohol Depend. 71:133–41
- 125. Puhl RM, Andreyeva T, Brownell KD. 2008. Perceptions of weight discrimination: prevalence and comparison to race and gender discrimination in America. Int. 7. Obes. (Lond.) 32:992–1000
- 126. Puhl RM, Heuer CA. 2009. The stigma of obesity: a review and update. Obesity (Silver Spring) 17:941-64
- 127. Puhl RM, Heuer CA. 2010. Obesity stigma: important considerations for public health. Am. J. Public Health 100:1019–28
- Rhodes R, Smith N. 2006. Personality correlates of physical activity: a review and meta-analysis. Br. J. Sports Med. 40:958–65
- 129. Robertson CL, Ishibashi K, Chudzynski J, Mooney LJ, Rawson RA, et al. 2015. Effect of exercise training on striatal dopamine D2/D3 receptors in methamphetamine users during behavioral treatment. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. doi: 10.1038/npp.2015.331
- Rush CC, Becker SJ, Curry JF. 2009. Personality factors and styles among college students who binge eat and drink. *Psychol. Addict. Behav.* 23:140–45
- 131. Sikorski C, Luppa M, Kaiser M, Glaesmer H, Schomerus G, et al. 2011. The stigma of obesity in the general public and its implications for public health—a systematic review. BMC Public Health 11:661

- 132. Smith DG, Jones PS, Williams GB, Bullmore ET, Robbins TW, Ersche KD. 2015. Overlapping decline in orbitofrontal gray matter volume related to cocaine use and body mass index. *Addict. Biol.* 20:194–96
- 133. Smith DG, Robbins TW. 2013. The neurobiological underpinnings of obesity and binge eating: a rationale for adopting the food addiction model. *Biol. Psychiatry* 73:804–10
- 134. Solinas M, Chauvet C, Thiriet N, El Rawas R, Jaber M. 2008. Reversal of cocaine addiction by environmental enrichment. *PNAS* 105:17145–50
- 135. Speliotes EK, Willer CJ, Berndt SI, Monda KL, Thorleifsson G, et al. 2010. Association analyses of 249,796 individuals reveal 18 new loci associated with body mass index. *Nat. Genet.* 42:937–48
- 136. Stice E, Figlewicz DP, Gosnell BA, Levine AS, Pratt WE. 2013. The contribution of brain reward circuits to the obesity epidemic. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 37:2047–58
- 137. Stice E, Spoor S, Bohon C, Small D. 2008. Relation between obesity and blunted striatal response to food is moderated by *Taq*1A A1 allele. *Science* 322:449–52
- 138. Striegel-Moore RH, Cachelin FM, Dohm FA, Pike KM, Wilfley DE, Fairburn CG. 2001. Comparison of binge eating disorder and bulimia nervosa in a community sample. *Int. J. Eat. Disord.* 29:157–65
- Sutin AR, Ferrucci L, Zonderman AB, Terracciano A. 2011. Personality and obesity across the adult life span. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 101:579–92
- 140. Szczypka MS, Kwok K, Brot MD, Marck BT, Matsumoto AM, et al. 2001. Dopamine production in the caudate putamen restores feeding in dopamine-deficient mice. *Neuron* 30:819–28
- 141. Szczypka MS, Rainey MA, Kim DS, Alaynick WA, Marck BT, et al. 1999. Feeding behavior in dopaminedeficient mice. *PNAS* 96:12138–43
- 142. Taghva A, Corrigan JD, Rezai AR. 2012. Obesity and brain addiction circuitry: implications for deep brain stimulation. *Neurosurgery* 71:224–38
- 143. Tang DW, Fellows LK, Small DM, Dagher A. 2012. Food and drug cues activate similar brain regions: a meta-analysis of functional MRI studies. *Physiol. Behav.* 106:317–24
- 144. Vainik U, Dagher A, Dubé L, Fellows LK. 2013. Neurobehavioural correlates of body mass index and eating behaviours in adults: a systematic review. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 37:279–99
- 145. Val-Laillet D, Aarts E, Weber B, Ferrari M, Quaresima V, et al. 2015. Neuroimaging and neuromodulation approaches to study eating behavior and prevent and treat eating disorders and obesity. *NeuroImage* 8:1–31
- 146. Vandenbroeck P, Goossens J, Clemens M. 2007. Foresight. Tackling obesities: future choices—building the obesity system map. London: Gov. Off. Sci. https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/ attachment\_data/file/295154/07-1179-obesity-building-system-map.pdf
- 147. Vartanian LR, Novak SA. 2011. Internalized societal attitudes moderate the impact of weight stigma on avoidance of exercise. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* 19:757–62
- Velázquez-Sánchez C, Ferragud A, Moore CF, Everitt BJ, Sabino V, Cottone P. 2014. High trait impulsivity predicts food addiction-like behavior in the rat. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 39:2463–72
- 149. Veling H, van Koningsbruggen GM, Aarts H, Stroebe W. 2014. Targeting impulsive processes of eating behavior via the internet. Effects on body weight. *Appetite* 78:102–9
- 150. Verdejo-Garcia A, Moreno-Padilla M, Garcia-Rios MC, Lopez-Torrecillas F, Delgado-Rico E, et al. 2015. Social stress increases cortisol and hampers attention in adolescents with excess weight. PLOS ONE 10:e0123565
- Verdejo-García A, Pérez-Expósito M, Schmidt-Río-Valle J, Fernández-Serrano MJ, Cruz F, et al. 2010. Selective alterations within executive functions in adolescents with excess weight. *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md.)* 18:1572–78
- 152. Vetter ML, Faulconbridge LF, Webb VL, Wadden TA. 2010. Behavioral and pharmacologic therapies for obesity. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* 6:578–88
- 153. Volkow N, Wang GJ, Fowler JS, Tomasi D, Baler R. 2014. Neuroimaging of addiction. In *Imaging of the Human Brain in Health and Disease*, ed. P Seeman, BK Madras, pp. 1–26. San Diego, CA: Elsevier
- 154. Volkow ND, Chang L, Wang G-J, Fowler JS, Ding Y-S, et al. 2014. Low level of brain dopamine D2 receptors in methamphetamine abusers: association with metabolism in the orbitofrontal cortex. Am. J. Psychiatry 158:2015–21
- Volkow ND, O'Brien CP. 2007. Issues for DSM-V: Should obesity be included as a brain disorder? *Am. J. Psychiatry* 164:708–10

- Volkow ND, Wang G-J, Baler RD. 2011. Reward, dopamine and the control of food intake: implications for obesity. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 15:37–46
- 157. Volkow ND, Wang G-J, Tomasi D, Baler RD. 2013. The addictive dimensionality of obesity. *Biol. Psychiatry* 73:811–18
- Volkow ND, Wang GJ, Tomasi D, Baler RD. 2013. Obesity and addiction: neurobiological overlaps. Obes. Rev. 14:2–18
- 159. Wadden TA, Wilson GT, Stunkard AJ, Berkowitz RI. 2011. Obesity and associated eating disorders: a guide for mental health professionals. *Psychiatric Clin. North Am.* 34:xiii–xvi
- 160. Wang G-J, Volkow ND, Telang F, Jayne M, Ma Y, et al. 2009. Evidence of gender differences in the ability to inhibit brain activation elicited by food stimulation. PNAS 106:1249–54
- 161. Wang GJ, Volkow ND, Fowler JS, Cervany P, Hitzemann RJ, et al. 1999. Regional brain metabolic activation during craving elicited by recall of previous drug experiences. *Life Sci.* 64:775–84
- Wang GJ, Volkow ND, Logan J, Pappas NR, Wong CT, et al. 2001. Brain dopamine and obesity. Lancet 357:354–57
- 163. Weller RE, Cook EW 3rd, Avsar KB, Cox JE. 2008. Obese women show greater delay discounting than healthy-weight women. *Appetite* 51:563–69
- 164. Whiting DM, Tomycz ND, Bailes J, de Jonge L, Lecoultre V, et al. 2013. Lateral hypothalamic area deep brain stimulation for refractory obesity: a pilot study with preliminary data on safety, body weight, and energy metabolism. *J. Neurosurg.* 119:56–63
- 165. World Health Organ. 2003. Diet, Nutrition and the Prevention of Chronic Diseases. Geneva: World Health Organ.
- 166. World Health Organ. 2015. Obesity and Overweight. Geneva: World Health Organ.
- 167. Yeomans MR, Javaherian S, Tovey HM, Stafford LD. 2005. Attentional bias for caffeine-related stimuli in high but not moderate or non-caffeine consumers. *Psychopharmacology* 181:477–85
- 168. Young RM, Lawford B, Nutting A, Noble E. 2004. Advances in molecular genetics and the prevention and treatment of substance misuse: implications of association studies of the A<sub>1</sub> allele of the D<sub>2</sub> dopamine receptor gene. *Addict. Behav.* 29:1275–94
- Ziauddeen H, Farooqi IS, Fletcher PC. 2012. Obesity and the brain: How convincing is the addiction model? Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 13:279–86
- 170. Ziauddeen H, Fletcher PC. 2013. Is food addiction a valid and useful concept? Obes. Rev. 14:19-28